MINUTES CITY OF FALLON 55 West Williams Ave Fallon, Nevada January 26, 2024

The Honorable City Council met in a special meeting on the above date in the Council Chambers, 55 West Williams Avenue, Fallon, Nevada.

Present:

Mayor Ken Tedford
Councilwoman Karla Kent
Councilman Paul Harmon
Chief of Staff Bob Erickson
City Attorney Mike Mackedon
Deputy City Attorney Trent deBraga
Chief Ron Wenger
Captain John Riley
City Clerk Treasurer Sean Richardson
Deputy City Clerk Elsie Lee
Deputy City Clerk Michael O'Neill
Public Works Director Brian Byrd
Deputy Public Works Glen Radtke
Engineer Derek Zimney
Emergency Manager Steve Endacott

The meeting was called to order by Mayor Tedford at 9:00 a.m.

Mayor Tedford led the Pledge of Allegiance.

Mayor Tedford inquired if the agenda had been posted in compliance with NRS requirements.

City Clerk Treasurer Sean Richardson advised that the agenda was posted in compliance with the NRS requirements.

Public Comments

Mayor Tedford inquired if there were any public comments. He noted that comments are to be general in nature, not relative to any agenda items. No action may be taken on a matter raised under this item until the matter has been specifically included on an agenda as an item upon which action will be taken.

No comments were noted.

Consideration and possible approval of Council Meeting Minutes for November 7, 2023, November 17, 2023, November 21, 2023, December 1, 2023, December 5, 2023, January 2, 2024, and January 16, 2024.

Councilman Harmon motioned to approve the Council Meeting Minutes for November 7, 2023, November 17, 2023, November 21, 2023, December 1, 2023, December 5, 2023, January 2, 2024, and January 16, 2024; seconded by Councilwoman Kent and approved with a 2-0 vote by the Council.

Consideration and possible approval of the City of Fallon's Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for the year ended June 30, 2023.

City Clerk Treasurer Sean Richardson stated the City of Fallon is required to provide an annual audit of its financial statements per NRS 354.624. The Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, is included in the agenda for possible approval. This audit is a cumulation of many hours by many individuals over the entire fiscal year. This is truly a total team effort. I'll start by thanking the audit committee which includes Councilwoman Karla Kent, City Attorney Mike Mackedon, Deputy City Attorney Trent deBraga and Chief of Staff Bob Erickson. I want to recognize Deputy Clerk Treasurers, Elsie Lee, and Michael O'Neill, who played an instrumental role in the audit. Special thanks to the rest of the Clerk Treasurer staff for their part in the financial process every day. In addition, I would like to recognize all the appointed officials for leading their respective departments. The audit encompasses the entire City, and each department plays a part. Finally, I would like to thank our Mayor and Council for their strong fiscal leadership and decision making during the past audit year. The City's audit was performed by Eide Bailly, led by Teri Gage. Eide Bailly has done the City audit for several years and has always provided a great deal of expertise and professionalism. It's always a pleasure working with them. Today, we have Teri Gage, who is a partner with Eide Bailly to present our financial report.

Teri Gage addressed the Council. I also want to say kudos to all the staff. A lot of time and effort goes into preparing the Audit Report, it is a 150-page document, and a lot of effort goes into that. So, I thank all the staff, especially Sean, Michael, and Elsie, they make our jobs a lot easier, and we appreciate all their help. In front of you, there are two documents, one is the bound audit report, that we are going to review first, and the other document is a letter that we will go over towards the end. On page 8 of the audit report, this is the Independent Auditor's Report. I am very happy to say that the City of Fallon has what we call a clean audit opinion, it's the highest level that can be achieved. For an Audit Opinion it's an unmodified audit opinion, and we stated that your financial statements are fairly presented in all material respects, as of June 30th, 2023. This also includes your schedule of expenditures of federal awards. You did have a single audit; this fiscal year and this opinion encompasses the single audit as well. If you have questions, please stop me as we move along, and I am happy to entertain them as we go through certain pages. Okay, now we are going to jump to page 23 and 24. This is your Statement of Net Position. Very similar to a balance sheet, starting off with assets, less liabilities equals the City of Fallon's Net Position. You as the Council are responsible for about 71 million dollars in Net Position, for the City. A couple of the significant highlights I wanted to go over for this year, is cash and investments did go down 6.2 million dollars compared to the previous fiscal year. You had a lot of capital projects; you did a lot of stuff within the City and so we will kind of see that as we go throughout the Audit Report. For your Capital Asset Additions this fiscal year, you spent about 11.9 million dollars. Some of those significant projects were some of the FAA fundings at the Airport to relocate the runway and for some lighting, that was about \$500,000. You had the splash park and the pickle ball courts; those were about 1.5 million dollars. You had 3.1 million dollars in road projects. You had electric meter and transformer projects for about 1.1 million dollars. The Public Works building renovation was about 1.8

million dollars, and about 2 million dollars in sewer and water projects for the dewatering press and as you did the roadwork, you had a lot of water and sewer line replacements. Like I said, you had a lot of capital projects, you did a lot of things this year. Some of your significant estimates that are included in your financial statements, the statement in that position is, full accrual, as we get back into the funds, they're modified cash. So, when they are fully accrual, your debt and your capital assets that are on these front statements, we are not going to see those on the back statements. So, there is a little bit of an accounting difference in the way government statements are put together. So, in these front statements we have three liabilities that are estimates. Those are other post-employment benefits, net pension liability, and your landfill closure cost. So, these are all estimates provided by third parties, and they fluctuate each year based on market conditions and different costs that go into it. So, your OPEB liability, for the current year is about 2.1 million dollars, this is down from 2.3 million dollars in the previous fiscal year. Your net pension liability, that is your retirement, the PERS retirement system, your current year liability is 13.2 million dollars, which is up 12.2 million dollars, from the previous fiscal year. The PERS liability, and the OPEB liability, are both based on actuarial evaluations, and they are usually a year behind. So, both liabilities are based on June 2022 figures. For your net pension liability, you have a proportionate share of all the local governments in the State of Nevada, and your proportion is .11967%. So, with these liabilities that are recorded, you end up ending the year with a deficit, unrestricted net position of 6.4 million dollars. Many local governments once they book these types of liabilities in a deficit net position because you aren't going to fund these liabilities for years and years down the road. So, since they are so large it does create deficits. As we get back into your funds, you'll notice on a cash basis, you do not have a deficit net position. So, I just wanted to explain that. People see the negative number and they think, oh no, you know we have a deficit. It is because of these long-term liabilities that go out decades. Now, we are going to go to page 43 and 44, and then we will get into some of your other funds. On page 43 and 44, there are a couple of things I wanted to highlight – you did have one new accounting standard that you implemented this fiscal year. It was GASB statement #96 for Subscription Based Information Technology Arrangements, basically your software leases. Certain software leases that are over a year in duration, get recorded as a lease liability on your financial statements. So, the City did implement that standard this fiscal year. On page 44, this is note 2 to the financial statements, this is regarding any noncompliance with Nevada Revised Statutes, and you did have several over expenditures. So, basically what you budgeted and what you ended up spending, there was over expenditure. In your Convention & Tourism Authority Fund, you overspent that fund by \$208,000. In your Water Treatment Enterprise Fund, you overspent that fund by about \$126,000, and in the Public Works Internal Service Fund you overspent that fund by \$36,000. There were also 2 funds, the Electric Enterprise Fund and the Public Works Internal Service Fund, that with their cost, this fiscal year, you ended up having an Interfund Loan, so you had to borrow some cash, to help with those funds. When you have an Interfund Loan, that is supposed to be approved by the Council, and that wasn't approved by the Council. So, that is also a statute violation. I think Sean probably has a plan to submit to the State, I think you have 30 days to submit it to the State on these. Most entities do have over expenditure, you have a very large budget. Sometimes it is hard to monitor those and make sure that you've covered everything. These aren't unusual by any means, and I think that you probably have a plan to submit to the Council for that.

City Clerk Treasurer Sean Richardson confirmed Ms. Gage's statement. I have talked with Council and told them that within the next 30 days we would be having to send that out and I would be returning to the Council.

Teri Gage stated that was perfect. Now we are going to go to the bottom of page 72. So,

I guess beginning on page 68-72, this is your General Fund. So, this is the main operating fund of the City. So, basically where all your sales tax dollars, your property tax dollars, and then it shows all the different departments, your Public Works Department, your Public Safety Departments, your General Administration Departments. So, you ended the year with an ending fund balance, in the General Fund, of 3.6 million dollars. That is down about 2 million dollars from the previous fiscal year of 5.6 million dollars, but like I said, you had a lot of capital projects that you did this fiscal year. So, that was the main reason for the decrease. I do want to point out that you budgeted to end the year at \$952,000. So, you're actually 2.6 million dollars over what you had budgeted for. So, the current year revenues in the General Fund were about 17.8 million dollars. You budgeted for about 19.1 million dollars. The difference there was all your ARPA funding. You budgeted to spend more on ARPA in the General Fund and you ended up transferring those to your water and sewer fund. Your prior year revenue was 17.4 million. So, you are up about \$400,000 from the previous fiscal year. Like I said, your significant differences were those ARPA funds. Where you had ARPA funds, you spent about 3.8 million dollars in 2023, and that was up from 1.8 million dollars in 2022. Your current year expenses were 17.8 million dollars and you budgeted for 21 million dollars. Once again, that difference was those ARPA funds, where you ended up transferring those over to your water and sewer, to spend in those funds, and your prior year expenses were 12.9 million dollars. So, you spent about 5 million dollars more – street projects and Splashpark was those 5 million dollars. In the Public Accounting Arena for your ending fund balance, we never like to see that go below 8.3% of your expenditures. Everyone asks, where does that 8.3% come from? It is 1/12th. So, you never want your ending fund balance to fall below having enough cash in the bank to pay one month of expenditures, which is 8.3%. You are at 21%. So, you are still well above that 8.3%. 6/30/22 you were at 43%, but like I said, I think that you were saving up funds, and you had some larger capital projects, this last fiscal year so, it depleted some of those ending fund balances, but you are still well above where the State recommends that you be. You ended the year at 3.6 million dollars, which is 21% of your expenses. The other funds I am going to go over are your Proprietary Funds, so water, sewer, electric, and garbage. So, those begin on page 94. This is your Electric Fund, this is a very significant fund for the City, it also includes your Quality-of-Life Promotion type expenditures. So, you ended the year in the electric fund at 5.8 million dollars, in that position. This is down about 2 million dollars from the previous fiscal year, and you also spent 3.2 million dollars more in cash. So, you spent 3.2 million dollars more in cash than you brought in, in that fund. Once again, I think that you had large projects going on during the year, and your energy costs went up. So, your energy cost went up 1.2 million dollars, which is about a 17-18 percent increase. So, I would expect that we will continue to see those rise. So, that was the biggest difference there.

City Clerk Treasurer Sean Richardson agreed and stated that we did a rate adjustment last year that took effect late in the fiscal year. So, we are anticipating a full year, hopefully we will get this back into the black.

Teri Gage agreed. Your rate adjustment was in March, so you didn't get a full year.

City Clerk Treasurer Sean Richardson agreed and stated that it didn't go into effect until May.

Teri Gage confirmed. So, just continue to monitor this fund in your budget process, all of these funds. When you go through your budget process you should always monitor your utility funds, and make sure your rates stay in line with your costs as they continue to rise. Page 95, this is your Water Enterprise Fund. So, it ended the year, with ending that position of 6.1 million dollars, you saw an increase in this fund. It increased about 720,000 dollars, and cash went up in this fund about \$328,000. This fund, once again, you had a rate increase, March of

2023 is when you approved the rate increase, so I assume those didn't go into effect until May, so in 2023-2024 you will see a full year of rate increases that will continue to help this fund, and your expenses in this fund went up about \$222,000, compared to the previous fiscal year. Page 96 is your Sewer Enterprise Fund. This fund had an ending net position of 11.2 million dollars. You increased that net position by about 1.1 million dollars. For both the Water and Sewer Funds, you did bring in ARPA dollars, over a million dollars in each, to help with some of the projects. As you had those road projects, you had a lot of additional costs relating to those types of projects.

City Clerk Treasurer Sean Richardson stated that it was related to the infrastructure on Broadway and Sherman.

Teri Gage stated that once again this fund had a rate increase in March, that probably went into effect in May. So, you will see a full year of impact of that in 2023-2024. Page 97, this is your Water Treatment Enterprise Fund. It ended the year with 14.3 million dollars in net position, which decreased from the previous year by about \$647,000, and your cost went up in this fund by about \$329,000. So, this one you might want to watch in your rates, if you have rate increases, and continue to watch this fund. Sanitation Fund, page 98, it ended the year with \$595,000 in net position. It was an increase of about \$253,000 from the previous fiscal year and costs in this fund went up \$519,000. So, I think the main theme of this is costs are going up. So, like I said, just keep all of these in mind as you are going through your rates. The last one, page 99, is your Landfill Enterprise Fund. This ended the year with 1.4 million dollars, which was an increase of \$547,000, and costs in this fund went down \$34,000. Like I said, they were 1.2 million dollars versus 1.232 million dollars. So, comparable. Alright, we are almost done, we are going to jump to page 105. This is your Public Works Internal Service Fund. So, this vear ended with a \$641,000 in ending fund balance. The prior year you had a deficit ending fund balance, so great job on getting that deficit reduced, but you transferred in 1.4 million dollars to help, and I think you had some costs relating to the Public Works Building Renovation, probably in this fund. Alright, page 144, we are on the tail end now. So, on page 144, this is your schedule of expenditures of federal awards. So, these are all your federal funds that come into the City. You spent 6.9 million dollars in federal funds. The prior year it was 6.1 million dollars. The majority of that was your ARPA-related funds, those COVID funds, that was 5.8 million dollars. You did have an unmodified opinion relating to this schedule expenditures of federal awards. Page 147. As part of the audit process, if we come up with any audit recommendations, we call them audit findings, we have put them in buckets. They are either a material weakness or a significant deficiency, based on materiality factors. First item, Eide Bailly prepares the financial statements for the City of Fallon. I think out of all my audit clients, I have one that prepares their own financial statements, and every one of our single clients because we prepare them, usually have either a significant deficiency or a material weakness because the auditors prepare them. In most cases, it is more cost efficient for the auditors to prepare them and most entities just accept that normal audit finding relating to that. We did not have any adjusting journal entries that came about as part of the audit. So, great job to all the staff. If we had any, we would be including that with this finding, and I think we had none. So, you are one of my only ones that have had none, so kudos. The next one, on page 148, and this is the last one, was relating to the single audit for the ARPA Funds. We did have one finding relating to reporting where the wrong number was put on the wrong line of the report. I think in the single audit world we have a materiality level, and it happened to be quite low, in this instance. And, because the wrong number was in the wrong line, we had to report this as a finding. In the whole scheme of things, it was a total number in that report. It was corrected in the next report, but we were still required, under the single audit compliance, to include that as

a finding. I don't think that it was of a significance that I would be overly concerned about. It had nothing to do with the question cost, that you spent money in the wrong place. It was just the wrong number, on the wrong line, in the reporting. So, that is it for the audit report. The last item is this letter. Most of the items in the letter, I just went through as we were reviewing this audit report. This letter is a required communication to the Council, where I have to discuss what my responsibility is for this audit report, and what your responsibility is. I will give you my opinions, but these financial statements are yours, basically. We need to discuss what your significant risks relating to the audit were. These are normal risks for every single one of our audit clients. They are management override of controls, improper revenue recognition, implementation of new accounting standards, we had GASB 96 for soft releases, significant estimates, so your OPEB, landfill estimate, and net pension liability. Federal Funds, so whenever we have a single audit, you have an increased risk of having Federal Funds. Improper capitalization, we want to make sure, as you have capital assets, you're properly depreciating them, and completeness of financial statement disclosures. And like I said, not one finding, in any of these, other than reporting for the ARPA, so great job there. We discussed our significant estimates already. We have to discuss corrected and uncorrected misstatements. Happy to say, we didn't have any, so great job there. We have to discuss any significant difficulties or issues with management, and I am really happy to say, I have never put that on any of my audit reports, so we had no issues there at all. That's it, that is all I have for you. I am happy to entertain any auestions.

Mayor Tedford thanked Ms. Gage and inquired if there were any comments or questions from the public or Council.

Councilman Harmon stated that he didn't have any questions. I spoke with Bob and Sean yesterday and that really helped me understand a lot of it. I really appreciate your efforts.

Mayor Tedford stated that he echoes Sean's earlier statements thanking all involved on our side. It is always easy working with you all and I appreciate it. Thank you very much. Any public questions or comments?

Councilwoman Kent thanked Sean for going through the financials in detail. Kudos to yourself and the Clerk's office for your hard work and thank you Eide Bailly.

No further comments were noted.

Councilwoman Kent motioned to approve the City of Fallon's Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for the year ended June 30, 2023; seconded by Councilman Harmon and approved with a 2-0 vote by the Council.

Mayor Tedford inquired if there were any further comments or questions.

No further comments were noted.

Public Comments

Mayor Tedford inquired if there were any public comments. No comments were noted.

Council and Staff Reports

Mayor Tedford inquired if there were any Council or staff reports. No reports were noted.

Executive Session

Mayor Tedford tabled the executive session, as it was not needed at this time. **Adjournment**

There being no further business to come before the Council, Mayor Tedford adjourned the meeting at 9:27 a.m.

	Mayor Tedford
Attest:	:
	Sean C. Richardson, City Clerk-Treasurer